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Dear Mr. Kaye: 

INSPECTOR GENERAL 
DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE 
4800 MARK CENTER DRIVE 

ALEXANDRIA, VIRGINIA 22350-1500 

JUN 2 8 2012 

Ref: 1 0-00317-F 
11-FC-0010 

This is the final response to your Freedom oflnformation Act (FOIA) request dated 
September 8, 2010, for a copy of the Department of Defense, Office of the Inspector General 
(DoDIG) report 09-INTEL-13. We received your request on the same date and assigned it FOIA 
case number 10-00317-F. 

The enclosed report is responsive to your request. Mr. Laurence K. Burgess, Deputy 
Under Secretary of Defense for Humint, Counterintelligence, and Security, Office of the Under 
Secretary of Defense for Intelligence; Mr. William R. Lietzau, Deputy Assistant Secretary of 
Defense for Detainee Policy and Mr. J. Alan Liotta, Principal Director, Detainee Policy Office, 
Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Policy; Mr. M. Mikel Kingsley, Chief, Oversight 
Staff, Directorate for Human Intelligence, Defense Intelligence Agency; and Captain Glenn J. 
Olarte, U.S. Navy, U.S. Southern Command Inspector General have determined that the report 
can be released in part. The redacted portions are exempt from release pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 
552(b )(1 ), which applies to information that is currently and properly classified in the interest of 
national defense or foreign policy in accordance with Executive Order 13 526, Section 1.4( c), 
which pertains to intelligence activities (including covert action), intelligence sources or 
methods, or cryptology; 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(3), which pertains to information exempted from 
release by statute, in this instance, 10 U.S.C. § 424, which protects information regarding the 
organization or any function of the Defense Intelligence Agency, the National Reconnaissance 
Office, or the National Geospatial-Intelligence Agency, or the number of persons assigned to any 
of these organizations, or the name, official title, occupational series, grade, or salary of any such 
person; 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6), which pertains to information, the release of which would 
constitute a clearly unwarranted invasion of personal privacy; and 5 U.S.C. § 552(b )(7)(C), 
which pertains to records or information compiled for law enforcement purposes, the release of 
which could reasonably be expected to constitute an unwarranted invasion of the personal 
privacy of individuals. 

If you are not satisfied with the redactions taken on the report by the offices listed above, 
you may submit an administrative appeal to the Director of Administration and Management, the 
Office of the Secretary of Defense Appellate Authority. Your appeal should be postmarked 
within 60 days of the date of this letter and should be submitted in writing to the Defense 
Freedom oflnformation Policy Office, Attn: Mr. James Hogan, 1155 Defense Pentagon, 
Washington, DC 20301-1155. Your appeal should cite to case number 11-FC-001 0 and should 
be clearly marked "Freedom of Information Act Appeal." 



In addition, I have determined that the redacted portions on pages 22, 23, 27, 28, and 29, 
the front and back cover pages, and the transmittal memorandum are exempt from release 
pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6) and 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(C). If you are not satisfied with the 
redactions taken on the report by the DoDIG, you may submit an administrative appeal to the 
Department of Defense, Office of the Inspector General, Office of Communications and 
Congressional Liaison, ATTN: Mr. John R. Crane, Suite 15F25, 4800 Mark Center Drive, 
Alexandria, VA 22350-1500. Your appeal should be postmarked within 60 days ofthe date of 
this letter, should cite to case number 1 0-00317-F, and should be clearly marked "Freedom of 
Information Act Appeal." 

Sincerely, 

~~zr~~~d 
Privacy Office 

Enclosure(s): 
As stated 
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(U) Additional Information and Copies 

(U) To request copies of this report, '-UIILCI~'~ 
(DSN6~). 

.at (703) 604 .. 

(U) SuggestiOns for Audits and Evaluations 

(U) 10 s~ggest ideas for, or to requeSt future audits and evaluations, contact the Office of 
tbe Deputy Inspector General for Intelligence at (703) 604-8800 (DSN 664-8~00) or 
UNCLI\SSIFIED fax (703) 604-0045. Ideas and requests can also be mailed to; 

ODIO-INTEL (ATTN: Intelligence Suggestions) 
Department of Defense Inspector General 
400 Anny Navy Drive (Room 703) 
Arlington. VA 22202-4704 

Acronyms and Abbreviations 
DIA Defense Intelligence Agency 
rv lnuavenous 
J2 Joint Staff Intelligence Section 
JTF Joint Task Force 
JTF GTMO Joint Task Force Guantanamo 
LSD Lysergic Acid Diet~ylamide 
010 Office of the £nspectpr General 
OSD Office of the Secretary of Defense 
USCENTCOM United States Central Command 

. USSOUTHCOM United States Southern Command 
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MEMORANDUM FOR UNDER SECRETARY OF DEFENSE FOR INTELLIGENCE 
DEPUTY ASSISTANT SECRETARY OF DEFENSE FOR 

DETAINEE POUCY 
DIRECTOR, DEFENSE INTELLIGENCE AGENCY 
DEPUfV CHIEF OF STAFF G2, DEPARTMENT OF THE 

ARMY 
NAVAL INSPECTOR GENERAL 
GENERAl COUNSEL, DEPARTMENT OF THE AIR 

FORCE 
INSPECTOR GENERAL, U.S. SOUTHERN COMMAND 
INSPECTOR GENERAL, U.S. JOINT FORCES COMMAND 
INSPECTOR GENERAL, U.S. CENTRAL COMMAND 
INSPECTOR GENERAL, U.S. SPECIAL OPERATIONS 
COMMAND 

FLEET JUDGE ADVOCATE, FLEET FORCES COMMAND 

SUBJECT: Investigation of Allegations of the Use ofMind-AJ.tering Drugs to Facilitate 
Interrogations ofDetainees (Report No. 09-INTEL-13)(U) 

{U) We are providing this report for yow infonnation and use. We perfooned the 
investigation in response to a congressional inquiry. We considered management 
CQDJments on a draft of the Npart in preparing the final report 

(U) Comments oo the draft of this report conformed to the requirements of DoD 
Directive 7650.3 and left no unresolved issues. Therefore, we do not require any 
additional comments. 

(U) We appr.eciate the courtesies extended to the staff. Please direct ·questions to me at 
('703) 604 .. , DSN 664 .. or (703) 604JIII OSN 6~. The 
team members are listed inside the 

G?~~/'~--' 
Deputy Inspector General 

for lnteltigence 
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Report No. 09-INTEh 13 (Project No. 02007-DINTO 1-0092.005) September 23, 2009 

Results in Brief: Investigation of Allegations 
of the Use of Mind-Altering Drugs to 
Facilitate Interrogations of Detainees (U) 

(U) What We Did 

(U) In response to a tasking to the 
Inspectors General of DoD and the 
Centrallnte!Jigence Agency from 
Senators Biden, Hagel, and Levin, we 
investigated allegations that mind­
altering drugs were administered to 
detainees to facilitate interrogation at 
DoD interrogation facilities. The 
Central Intelligence Agency Inspector 
General conducted a separate 
investigation of its interrogation 
facilities. 

(U) What We Found 

(U) We did not substantiate allegations 
made by or on behalf of present and 
former detainees that they had been 
administered mind-altering drugs for 
interrogation purposes at DoD 
interrogation facilities. 

{U) We found no evidence that DoD 
authorized the use of mind altering drugs 
to facilitate interrogation. 

(U/A"QWQ) We did, however, note that 
some detainees received ongoing 
medication with psychoactive drugs (for 
treatment of diagnosed medical 

conditions) which co~d impair an 
individual's ability to pro.vide accurate 
infonnation. We also observed that 
certain detainees, diagnosed as having 
serious mental health conditions and 
being treated with psychoactive 
medications on a continuing basis, were 
interrogated. 

(U) Client Comments and 
Our Response 

(U) Deputy Under Secretary of Defense 
for Human Intelligence 
Counterintelligence and Security; 
Director, Defense Intelligence Agency; 
Assistant Deputy Chief of Staff, 
Department of the. Army, 02; Naval 
Inspector General; Inspector General, 
United States Southern Command; and 
the Chief of Staff, United States Joint 
Forces Command concurred with our 
findings. 

(U) The Principal Director, Office of 
Detain.ee Policy; General Counsel, 
Department of the Air Force; Chief of 
Staff, United States Central Command; 
Deputy Director of Intelligence, United 
States Special Operations Command, 
and the Deputy Commander and Chief 
of Staff, United States Fleet Forces 
Command had no comment on the draft 
report . 
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(U) Introduction 

(U) Objective 

SRCRlnWN8F9Rfi 

(U) This investigation was conducted to determine the facts surrounding reports that 
detainees and prisoners captured io Southwest Asia may have been administered mind· 
altering drugs to facilitate interrOgation at DoD interrogation facilities. Other allegations 
or allegations based on incidents which occurred when the detainees were not under DoD 
control are not within the s.cope of this investigation. 

(U) Background 

(U) On April 24, 2008, Senators Biden, Hagel, and Levin jointly signed a letter 
requesting that the Inspectors General of the DoD and Central Intelligence Agency 
investigate reports published in the news media that detainees had been administered 
mind-altering drugs to facilitate interTogations. The Inspectors General mutually agreed 
to conductthe investigation within their respective agen.cies. 

(U) Scope and Methodology 

(U) We conducted this investigation from June 2008 through July 2009. Our 
investigation en.compassed detainees under DoD control from September 2001 through 
April2008. The investigative scope encompassed DoD detainee operati0ns in Iraq, 
Afghanistan, Guantanamo Bay, and the United States. We conducted on-site visits to 
detainee confmement facilities at Guantanam0 Bay and Charleston, South Carolina. We 
issued data calls to appropriate DoD components, reviewed reports published by 
government and non~govemmental organizations, and interviewed individuals who we 
determined had infonnation directly bearing on the matter. We believe that our analysis 
of the evidence obtained provideS a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions 
based on our investigative objectives. 

(U) Prior Coverage 

(U) We discovered no prior coverage specifically addressing the use of mind·aJtering 
drugs on detainees to facilitate interrogation during the last S years. However, for a 
review ofreJated reports published by the U.S. Government, academic institutions, or 
human rights organizations, see Appendix. I. 

1 (U) We use the tc:nns mind-altering dJugs. psychoactive dJugs, and psydlo~ie drugs interchangeably. 
We defined the tenns to mean any chemical substanee.lbllr alters brain function resulting in change$ in 
~ mood, cilJISdOliSneiS, and/or bebAvior. 

1 
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(U) Finding A. Administration of Mind­
Altering Drugs 

(U) Summary. 

(U) We did not substantiate allegations made by or on behalf of present and former 
detainees that they had been administered mind-altering drugs for interrogation purposes 
while at DoD interrogation facilities. 

(U) Background. 

(U) For the purposes of this investigation, we reviewed DoD documents including: 
relevant interrogation plans and logs, medical records and Behavioral Health Service 
reports.~ Additionally, we independently researched open source and classified 
documents. We issued data calls for relevant information to 17 DoD organizations. We 
analyzed data received frorn all respondents and issued follow-up data calls to six DoD 
components. 

(U) We reviewed DoD interrogation policy from 2001 until2008. This included a 
comprehensive review of the 2003 Office of the Secretary of Defense (OSD) Working 
Group3 review of interrogation techniques as well as actions taken by Joint Task Force 
170.4 This review is further discussed in Finding B. 

(U) We interviewed over 70 personnel related to our investigation. These individuals 
included six current or former Joint Task Force Guantanamo (JTF GTMO) Joint 
Intelligence Group Directors and Interrogation Control Element Chiefs, and four current 
or former Joint Medical Group Directors assigned to JTF GTMO between 2001 and 
2008. We spoke with key personnel at JTF GTMO, United States Central Command 
(USCENTCOM), United States Southern Cotnrnand (USSOUTHCOM), and United 
States Special Operations Command as well as the U.S. Naval Consolidated Brig in 
Charleston, South Carolina. We also interviewed detainees, legal counsel for detainees, 
and personnel involved in detention operations, interrogations and the medical treatment 
of detainees. 

~ (U) Bebavioral Health Service reports-are weekly reports crealed by the Behavioral Health Unit at ITF 
GTMO. These reports describe diagnoses for detainees with mental health issues. 

3 (U) On January 15, 2003, the Secretary of Defense-directed the DoD General Counsel to establish a working 
group to assess the legal, policy, and operational issues relating to the interrogation of detainees. 

1 (l..') On November: 4, 2002, Joint Task Foret I 60/170 was merged and rt·desi8ilated JTF GTMO. 

Sli€M'f//N9F9R.'t 
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(U) We identified numerous detainees who made allegations that they had been medicated 
without their consent. Only a small subgroup of these individuals made allegations of forced 
medication that they directly linked to interrogation. We contacted civilian legal representatives 
for the aforementioned detainees via letters, email and phone calls. We asked counsel to provide 
any information they could regarding their clients' allegations. We also sent queries to an 
military legal counsel at Guantanamo who represent those detainees who remain at Guantanamo. 

{U/l.P9W9' We attempted to interview several detainees, whom we selected based upon the 
nature and specificity of their allegation coupled with the detainee's accessibility (we did not 
attempt to interview detainees who had been repatriated). On January 9, 2009, we received 
permission from the Deputy Secretary ofDefense to interview three detainees who made specific 
alH~anor1s of to facilitate These three individuals are-

and On March 24,2009, 
our mtervtew request. On April 14, 2009, we 

and-

(U) We extensively reviewed allegations made by-that he had Deen given an 
unknown drug during interrogation at the U.S. NavaJ Consolidated Brig in Charleston, South 
Carolina. This review is discussed in detail in Appendix II. 

(U) Results. 

M Medical Treatment. We reviewed. medical records maintained at the Joint Medical 
Group, JTF GTMO documenting the physical and psychological care and treatment of detainees. 
Nowhere in the medical records did we find any evidence of mind-altering drugs being 
administered for the purposes of interrogation. 

(U//f€)WQ~ We found that several detainees had received compulsory medical treatment. This 
treatment was documented within the medical records. For instance, at least three detainees 
received intravenous fluids (IV) in order to hydrate them. Additionally, at least one detainee was 
fed with a feeding tube due to hunger strikes that had brought his body weight below acceptable 
levels. 

(U/JI;QWQ~ In some cases we were able to correlate a detainee's allegation offorced drugging 
with a particular medical treatment. For example, Detainee 10.:035 claimed that he was 
frequently administered IV solutions during interrogation. During a 2003 administrative review 
board hearing, IG-03 stated that be was "forcibly given frequent IVs many times a day by 
medical personnel during interrogation, which felt like repetitive stabs and this happened on a 
daily basis. Medical personnel were involved in carrying out these methods used in 
interrogations." A review ofiG...03's medical records showed that he did receive IV tluids for 
hydration frequently between November 24, 2002, and January 3, 2003; a period in which he 

s (U) We assigJ~ed LQ reference numbers in cases where we referenced information from the detainee's 
personal medical .record. 
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was interrogated almost daily. These lV's were administered in the interrogation room as 
documented in his interrogation log. 

(St'ftffj According to press reporting, Detainee IG-02 claimed that he was frequently 
administered IVs during interrogation. "I'd fall asleep (after the shot)." According to IG-02, he 
was unable to learn what types of drugs were injected before the interrogations but believes that 
they were intended to extract infonnation. We found no evidence that he was administered shots 
during interrogation. However, a review of his medical records showed that IG-02 had been 
diagnosed as schizophrenic and ps-ychotic with a borderline personality disorder. Medication he 
received includedHaldol6, a drug whose side-effects include lethargy. A Behavioral Health 
Service Report dated July 25, 2004, showed that on May 27, 2003 he was prescribed Haldol 
administered by injection. Additionally, a Summary Interrogation Report from April 16, 2004, 
stated that IG-02 "noted that he was receiving medication and they forced him to .receive 
injections. He stated he had first approved of these injections but no longer wanted them." 
Another Summary Interrogation Report stated that the IG-02 "was concerned about a shot he has 
been receiving from medical personnel. An interrogator referred IG-02 to medical personnel, 
explaining that interrogators cannot initiate, discontinue, or in any way influence medical 
rreatment." Additionally, the interrogator stated in his comments that IG-021 •• ••• wishes to 
discontinue the Injections which he stated he receives monthly. Medical personnel were notified 
of IG-02' s request." 

(U/If8UO~ Medical Reconls. Medical records maintained by the Joint Medical Group, JTF 
GTMO showed that several detainees received psychoactive drugs on a regular and continuing 
basis in order to treat behavioral health issues. In some cases, these drugs had to be forcibly 
administered. We found that these instances were documented within the medical records at 
Joint Medical Group, and that the chain of command had been consulted prior to the forcible 
administration of medication. Behavioral Health Service ~eekly situation reports show rhat over 
lOO detainees had been seen by the Behavioral Health Service, JTF GTMO for psychological 
evaluation between 2002 and 2009. The documents indicated that detainees suffered. from a 
variety of mental health problems ranging from insomnia to schizophrenia and psychosis. The 
medical reasons for the drugs prescribed to the detainees whose records we reviewed were 
clearly .indieated in both medical records and Behavioral Health Service reports. 

(\1/R?EU:JQ~ We noted in the medical records of some detainees, documentation of 
ongoing medication with psychoactive drugs which could impair an individual's ability 
to provide accurate information. We also observed that certain detainees diagnosed as 
having serious mental health conditions and being treated with p.sychoactive medications 
on a continuing basis were interrogated while under the effects of the medication. 

6(U) lialdol is an antipsychotic used in the treatment of schi':rophrenia and, more acutely, in the treatment of 
acute psychotic states and delirium. Side-effects ofHaldol include; anxiety, dysphoria, and an inability to 
remain motionless. Other side effects include dry mouth lethargy, muscle-stiffness, muscle cramping, 
tremors and wei~t gain. 

S~CRE'fNN8F8llN 
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(U//f'8U6~ Medical Interviews. We interviewed the ~urrent Commander of the Joint 
Medical Group and three of his predecessors in that position. One former Commander of 
the Joint Medical Group stated that some detainees were involuntarily medicated to help 
control serious mental illnesses. For example, one detainee had a piete of shrapnel in his 
brain which resulted in control problems and a limited ability to provide effective 
consent. According to the Joint Medical Group stafftheyused the same procedures that 
they would have used for an Americ,an mental health patient. The psychiatrists and two 
psychologists assigned to the Behavioral Health Service consulted with each other and 
arrived at group decisions regj!rdjng the diagnosis of individual detainees. They could, 
and did bring in psychologists from the U.S. Naval Hospital, Guantanamo for a second 
opinion. Joint Medical Group also had an ethics committee which reviewed the 
psychiatric diagnosis if it became necessary to medicate a detainee without his consent 
All Joint Medical Group commanders said that involuntary administrations of medication 
or food were approved by the ethics committee, and were conducted in accordance with 
U.S. medical standards. 

(U/;'f8t18) Interrogation Plans. We also reviewed information maintained in the JTF 
GTMO Joint Detainee lnfonnation Management System. During this review ofthe Joint 
Detainee Information Management System and a subsequent review of the JTF GTMO archive 
files, we reviewed 1 ,620 interrogation plans covering 411 detainees during the period from 
August 2002 through January 2005. No interrogation plans were noted which mentioned 
drugging, medicating, or threatening to drug or medicate a detainee to.facilitate interrogation. 

(U) Data CaU Submissions. We queried 17 DoD organizations for all dOcumentation 
pertaining to the threat or administration of mind~alteringdrugs for the purpose of 
interrogations conducted by DoD components or in support of other government 
a~ncies. The orga~tions queried include: Office of the Under Secretary of Defense 
for Intelligence, Office for the Under Secretary of Defense for Policy, Department of 
Defee. General Counsel, Assistant to the Secretary of Defense for Intelligence 
Oversight, Joint Chiefs of Staff, the Military Services, Defense Intelligence Agency 
(DlA), USCENTCOM, USSOUTHCOM, United StatesSpecial Operations Command, 
United States Joint Forces Command, United States Pacific Command, United States 
European Command, and, United States Northern Command. 

(U) None of the organiz:ations queried produced any documents or evidence of the use of · 
mind-altering drugs to facilitate interrogation. Air Force, DIA, DoD General Counsel 
and Joint Forces Command did provide infoonation related to the OSD Working Group. 
This information is discussed in Finding B. 

(U) USCENTCOM stated they "discovered no HQ USCENTCOM policies, nor those of 
subordinate units, which ever authorized the use of mind-altering drugs during 
interrogations. Furthermore, neither HQ USCENTCOM nor its subordinate units 
discovered any investigations into allegations of such use in its area of responsibility.'' 

(U/K8UO) The USSOUTHCOM Staff Judge Advocate at JTF GTMO statt'Jd~ ''after 
searching the 1TF GTMO tracker, the Staff Judge Advocate office has no record of any 

5 
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allegations concerning the threatened use or administration of mind-altering or 
psychotropic drugs. 11 

(U/;'f8'W8) We requested the DoD Office of Detainee Policy to review their reports for any 
detainee allegations that mind-altering drugs were used for the purpose of interrogatio11 at DoD 
inteJTOgation facilities. The Office of Detainee Pol icy reported no sueh allegations. 

(U) lkftmse CoulfSeL Interviews and written responses provided by the defense counsel of 
the detainees did not offer sufficient contextual information to provide us specific investigative 
leads. For example, a law frrm representing three detainees we researched stated that "at the 
moment there is no information further to what is already in the ic domain in the statement 
?fthe me~.'' ~resentatio? said, .. a. t this stage of his 
mcarceration,.__ memory IS severely unfortunately, we are 
skeptical that he can provide you with any further additional details beyond these documents." 

(U) Interviews with Defense Componl!llts. Key personnel at USCBNTCOM, United 
States Special Operations Command. USSOUfHCOM. and JTF GTMO all stated the use of 
mind-altering drugs to facilitate interrogation was not authorized. No one recalled any reported 
incidents or allegations of the use of mind-altering drugs to facilitate interrogation. We also 
interviewed fonner Joint Intelligence Group Directors, Interrogation Control Element Chiefs, 
and Joint Medical Group Directors, JTF GTMO wbo all stated that they were unaware ofany 
policy, regulation, or authorization, that approved the use of drugs for the purpOSe of facilitating 
interrogations. Additionally, they reponed no allegations or incidents of drugs being used for the 
purposes of interrogation. 

(U//fQ\JQ) The fonner USSOUTHCOM Director for Intelligence (12) from July 1999 through 
May 2003. stated that the topic of drugs being used for interrogation purposes never arose during 
his time as the USSOUTHCOM J2 and that his personnel received the first detainees brought to 
the detention facility at Gwmtanamo Bay. He aJso stated that he would have not allow.ed it to 
occur if it had been mentioned as a possible technique. 

(Uf,'f8W8) During an on-site visit at USSOUTHCOM, we spoke with the DtA Senio.r 
Command Representative as well as the Staff Judge Advocate and the Deputy Chief of Theater 
Coordination. The Deputy Chief stated that he had been part ofUSSOUTHCOM GTMO 
operations since 2002. and that he served as an analyst at JTF GTMO from 2002 until2003. He 
was not aware ofany instance in which mind-altering drugs were used to facilitate interrogation. 
He did state that psychoactive· medication was administered to detainees for mental health 
pUrpOseS and that these injections were somet1mes forced with uncooperative detainees7. He also 
stated that IVs and feeding tubes were also administered during hunger strikes. Additionally, he 

7 (U) This Btalemeot is consiSiellt with DoD policy that health care wi II generaUy be pi'(Wided wilb the 
consent of the detainee. However, in the case of extreme cin:lumstanoes su.cb as a h~n&er strike, attempted 
suicide. or other attempted self-harm, medical treatment or intervention may be admlniltered without tbe 
consent of the ddainee to prevent death or serious harm. 
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said that on occasion, chemical · restraints8 were used on detainees that posed a threat to 
themselves or others. Two other fonner Joint Medical Group Directors agreed with this 
statement. 

(U) Officials interviewed at USCENTCOM included the Counterintelligence Branch Chief, the 
Detainee Affairs Branch Chief and the Staff Judge Advocate. They stated that there had never 
been any mention of mind-altering drugs being used or discussed for interrogation purposes at 
the USCENTCOM level and subordinate units. Additionally, they were unaware of any 
authorizations, policies or special access programs that allowed mind-altering drugs to be used to 
facilitate interrogations. 

(U) Officials interviewed at United States Special Operations Command included the Deputy 12 
and Counterintelligence Section as weil as the Human Intelligence Support Element Chief from 
D lA. They stated that United. States Special Operations Command was not aware of any 
instances in which mind-altering drugs were used during interrogations. Additionally, they were 
not aware of any policy, direction or order that authorizes drugs to be used as an interrogation 
tactic. 

(U) Detainee Interviews. On 'I 14,2009, we conducted interviews with 
-and 

(U) According to he was captured in Karachi, Pakistan by the 
Pakistanis in September 2002. A three days in Pakistan, he stated that he was taken to "the 
Prison of Darkness," that he believes was. in Kabul, Afghanistan. According to-, after 
40 days in Kabul he was transferred to Bagram, Afghanistan and held there for six or seven days 
prior to being transported to Guantanamo. 

(U)- stated that during an interrogation at Bagrarn he was given pills; green and red 
ones. "After I ate like three of them, my tongue started getting heavier. After that, Iwoke up 
and they (interrogators) said thank you very much, we've got what we need. After I ate the stuff, 
it was like a state of delusion." He also said "ittook like three-four days (to feel normal again). 
1 was not normal until I came to Cuba and then l started to feel my mind back. It was a state .of 
delusion. Like everything was a dream. My sensation was not great." 

(U) During the interview, we asked- ifhe was told what .the~. He stated, ".At 
tb.e time they said it was some candy. And I was hungry so I ate it."-- said it came in a 
clear plastic bag and said they were sweet. He stated that th.is only happened one time. 

(U) We asked- if the se.nsations he experienced could have been the res~lt of being 
exhausted. He responded, "I don't remember exactly.'' He further offered, "if you saw my 

8 
(U) A chemical restraint is a medication used to control behavior or restrict the patient's freedom of 

movement. Additionally, a detainee that exhibits aggressive· and uncontrollable behavior that cannot be 
controlled by conventional restraint and is deemed to represent an imminent threat to sci f and others may 
be involuntarily administered chemical restraint medication. by tile medical staff. 
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condition in the Prison of Darkness after 40 days being tortured. and having to stand all the time 
at Bagnun. Those were things consuming my mind at the time." He later stated, ''when 1 start to 
remember that, I get somewhat upset, because it was a terrible event in my I ife. When you had 
been standing for three-four days in a row, 1 was so tired, I was exhausted. I can't describe those 
sensations." 

( U) From DoD records, we detennined that~~illtf:!fogated four times between 
October 23-26,2002, at Bagram Airfield. Based on - description and correlated with 
DoD records. we were able to identify the two U.S. Anny personnel who intermgated him. We 
interviewed the two interrogators separately. Neither interrogator could specifically recall 
- · as each had interrogated over lOOpersons during their respective assignments. Both 
of the interrogators stated emphatically that they never gave any detainee a drug or medication. 
They also stated that they never witnessed anyone give a detainee a drug or medication for 
interrogation purposes and knew of no authorization that would pennit the administration of 
drugs to facilitate interrogations. However, both stated that they frequently gave the detainees 
food and candy to reward or encourage them to talk. Food they gave them included cookies, 
Taffy' s, Jolly Ranchers, suckers and Fruit Loops cereaL Based on the statements provided by 
the interrogators, and lacking any evidence of drugging, we concluded that we could not 
substantiate- allegation. 

said he was arrested in Faisalaban, Pakjstan in March 2002. -
Pakistanis for three months. He arrived at Ouantanamo late in the 

(U) - was asked if anyone had ever threatened to give him a "truth drug.·• He said "Yes. 
One of the interrogators said he would give me something that will make me talk." He said that 
the incident happened four years ago at Guantanamo. When asked if he was ever threatened 
again. - said, ''That was only one time, because I told him I don' t care, just do what you 
want." 

(U) We reviewed USSOUTHCOM records pertaining to - detention and interrogation. 
None of the Swnmary Interrogation Reports, Reports of Investigative Activity, Memoranda for 
Record, Interrogation Plans orJTF GTMO Detainee Assessments m:ade any reference to the usc 
ot the threat of mind-altering drugs t~ fac:ilitate interrogation. Additionally, when we reviewed 
what - told us about the interrogators that aUegedly offered him the truth drug and the 
time-frame in which it took place, we were unable to correlate this infonnation With records and 
documents pertaining to his interrogations. 
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(U) Finding B. OSD Interrogation Policy as 
Pertains to Drugs. 

(U) Summary. 

(U) The OSD Working Group by its report dated April4, 2003, did not recommend, nor did the 
Secretary ofDefense by his memorandum dated Aprill6, 2003, authorize the use of mind­
altering drugs to facilitate interrogation. 

(U) Background. 

(Uilr8l:i9~ On October 2, 2002, a meeting was convened at JTF-170 which included tbe JTF-
170 J2, the JTF-1 70 Staff Judge Advocate, the Chief of the Interrogation Control ElemeQt (an 
employee of the DIA assigned on temporary duty to JTF-170), and two JTF~l70 mental health 
specialists. Content of the meeting was recorded in "Counter Resistance Strategy Meeting 
Minutes. ·• The minutes of that meeting record that near the end of the meeting there was a 
discussion about ways to manipulate the environment of detainees. Among the listed points of 
discussion was, "Truth serum; even though it may not actually work, it does have a placebo 
effect." 

(U) Results. 

(U//f9l::J9) on October' 1 t, 2002, the frF-170 (J2) addressed a request for approval of counter­
resistance strategies to the Commander, JTF-170. The JTF- t 70 Staff Judge Advocate agreed 
with the .request by memorandutn, and the Commander, JTF-170 forwarded it to the 
Commander, USSOUTHCOM the same date. The request for counter-resista.nce strategies was 
staffed at the Joint Chiefs of Staff and provided. to the DoD General Counsel who forwarded it to 
the Secretary of Defense with a recommendation for approval with specific conditions. The 
Secretary of Defense approved the DoD General Counsel recommended course of action on 
December 2, 2002. Neither the JTF-170 request nor the Secretary of Defense memorandum of 
approvaJ referenced the use ofmind-altering drugs for interrogation. 

tSNNf) On January 15, 2003 the Secretary of Defense directed the DoD General Counsel to 
establish a working group to assess the legal, policy, and operational issues relating to 
interrpgation .ofdetainees. The OSD Working Group was chaired by the General Counsel, 
Department Qf the Air Force, and was composed of civilian and military attorneys representing 
their respective services as well as interrogation subject.matter experts. On January 21, 2003J tbe 
OSD Working Group tasked the OIA to compile a list of possible interrogation techniques 
regardless of legality. The Deputy Director, DJA tasked the DIA Human Intelligence Directorate 
to prepare a comprehensive list of possible interrogation techniques for review by the working 
group. 
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(8/ii~ The DIA r~atfve prepared a list of40 techniques which were reviewed by the 
PIA GeJietal ~U!JSel• Deputy Oireetor before being presented to the OSD Workirtg Group 
on.January 24, !003. lfem 40 was: 

(~)Use of.Dtijgs; "The use of drugs such as sodium peAtothal and Demerol could prove 
to be effective." 

(fJHNF) On January 2t5~ .2003, the DIA repre$entative forwarded to the.OSll Wotkin_g Group 
anotber~ersion of the techniques list presented in matrix -format In addition to the infonnation 
contained in the list of techniques, the matrix added a cmnment on effectiveness which described 
the ·.qs~ of drugs as ..... relaxes detainee to -cooperative state.'' 

(Wl'Nf) We interviewed members of the OSD Working Group· who stated that the PQ~~b1e use of 
:mioo'-altering ~gs was rejected and immediately removed from the list. The OSD Workirm 
6mup-issued its ni:port on April 4, 2003. The use of·mind-altering dmgs was llQt inc1u<led as a 
re:commended: technique.m the report. Based on theOSD Working Group report, the Secretary 
of Defense signed a memorandum to the Commander, USSOUTHCOM on April 16, 2003~ 
which apprend a broad array of interrogation techniqU4$ for use at JTF GTMO and stipulated 
tbatmquests for any additional techniques. must be fol'\1lardad thr,ough the Cbainnan, Joint Chiefs 
ofltaff for liis cC:ul(rdenltion. The use of milld-altering drug& was not amot1g the list of 
techniques approved by the Secretary· of Defense. 

('Q)''We. conclude from this .analysis that the Secretary of Defense did not autb(')rize the: use of 
mittd-altering drugs for the-~ of detainee interrogation. 
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(U) Appendix I. Published Reports Review. 

(U} Summary. 

(U) we· conducted a review of related literature including U.S. Government reports andthose 
published by academic institutions or human rights organizations. Our review of open source 
records did not substantiate the allegations. Reports directly related to this investigation ate 
summarized below. 

(U} Results. 

(U) U.S. Army Surgeon General. "Assessment of .Detainee Medical Operations for OEF, 
GITMO, and OIF;~u.S. Army Medical Research and Materiel Command, April 13,2005. This 
assessment was directed by the Anny Surgeon General and addressed the· full spectrum of 
combat medical care for both U.S. forces and detarnees. The Anny assessment team visited Iraq, 
Afghanistan, and Guantanamo and interviewed a total of 1,182 personnel from over 180 military 
units-using a standard questionnaire. One group of questions specifically addressed the subject 
of possible use of mind-altering ·drugs for the purpose of interrogation. Two incidents were 
noted in the report. 

(U/If'OHO,~ At Kirkuk, Iraq, one non-commissioned officer in the medical support field stated to 
the Anny Surgeon General interviewer that he saw sedatives being used by medical persoMel to 
calm a detaihee so that the detainee would talk more. The Army Surgeon General interviewer 
noted in the report that eight other ~pondents in the same unit did no.t report such an incident. 
We requested the local Army Inspector General to obtain sworn statements from the non­
commissioned officer, the officer wh-o conducted the initial Army Sut'geon General interview, 
and the officercommanding the unit at the time. When interviewed on October 14, 2008, the 
non-commissioned officer elected to make a con-ective statement in which he claimed no 
knowledge ofa request to administer mind-altering drugs for interrogation purposes. In the 
corrected statement the non-commissioned officer stated that sedatives were only given to patient 
detainees to alleviate pain. The original Army Surgeon General interviewing officer was 
interviewed on October 17, 2008, but could offer nothing additional to the published report. 
The commanding officer was interviewed on October 7, 2008, and stated he was aware of the 
incident originally reported. He described an incident involving a severely wounded detainee 
that the unit intelligence officer wanted to interrogate. The commander refused this request and 
instructed his staff that medical care was their first priority and that medications should be 
administered to a detainee within a minimum of six hours prior to an interrogation. 

(U}f00l::f6~ In the second incident contained in the Army Surgeon General report~ a medical 
officer stationed at Baghdad, Iraq reported that he was treating a wounded civilian when he was 
asked to administer cough syrup under the ruse of it being a truth serum. The doctor refused and 
issued instructions to his colleagues that medical treatments were not to be used. for interrogation 
purposes. On October 7, 2008, the OIG interviewed the medical officer mentioned in the Anny 
Surgeon General Report. He stated that the brigade S-2 (Intelligence Officer) made the reque8t 
and he refused as it would be a violation of medical ethics. The doctor further stated that he had 
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no knowledge of anyone else requesting the use of drugs on a detainee for the purpose of 
interrogation. Based on interviews, we concluded that the incidents cited in this report did not 
provide evidence that mind~altering drugs were administered by medical personnel to facilitate 
interrogations. 

(U/,i'QYQ~ U.S. Senate Armed Services Committee • .. Senate Armed Services 
Committee Inquiry into the Treatment ofOet.ainees in U.S. Custody," Senate Armed Services 
Committee, December 2008. The Senate Armed Services Committee conducted a thorough 
inquiry into the evolution of detainee interrogation policies, authorities, and techniques. The 
inquiry reviewed early influences on interrogation policy; the development of new interrogation 
authorities; the use ofGuantanamo as a "Battle Lab" for interrogation techniques; legal opinions 
governing interrogations; and, the implementation of approved interrogation techniques at 
Gwmtanamo, Iraq, and Afghanistan. The Senate Anned Services Committee report contained no 
evidence that mind~ltering dru.gs were administered to detainees to facilitate interrogations. 

(UI/FQY().)D.epartment of Justice. "A Review of the FBI's Involvement in and 
Observations of Detainee Interrogations in Guantanamo Bay, Afghanistan, and Iraq (U)", 
Department of Justice, Office of the Inspector General; May 2008; The scope of the review was 
Federal Bureau of Investigation participation in detainee operations worldwide. The report 
addressed Federal Bureau of Investigation activities in concert with or supportive of DoD 
components and other government organizations. The report was released in three versions; Top 
Secret Codeword; redacted to Secret No Foreign Dissemination; and redacted to Unclassified. 
We reviewed: the unredacted Top Secret Codeword version and found no reference to mind 
altering drugs. We also provided the Department of Justice 010 a list of detainees who had 
made claims of being administered mind altering drugs and requested they review their 
investigative fl.les for any informati<m relevant to our investigation. The Department of Justice 
QIG searched their files against the names we provided and found no references to drugs or mind 
altering drugs. 

(U) Physicilms for HUIIIan Rights. "Broken Laws, Broken Lives: Medical Evidence of 
Torture by US Personnel and Its Impact," Physicians for Human Rights, June, 2008. This report 
provides first person accountS:oftreatment by eleven former detainees and subsequent medical 
and psychological evaluation$ by representatives of the Physicians for Human Rights. Four of 
the fonner detainees described being given medications (including Zocor, Valium, and Zoloft) at 
times without their consent, but none of the four alleged there was a connection between the 
medicatiQns and the interrogation process. One former detainee alleged that he was often 
forciblyntedicated both orally and through injections ofunknown drugs. Of the eleven fonner 
detainees none made allegations associating.their medications with interrogations. 

(U) Human. Rights Watch. "Locked Up Alone: Detention Conditions and Mental Health at 
Guantanamo," Human Rights Watch, June 2008. This report specifically addressed mental 
health issues associated with former detainees held at Ouantanamo. The report cited one former 
detainee who stated he had been given antidepressant medication, but did not allege any 
connection with the interrogation process. 
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(U) U11i'NI'Sby II/ CtdiftJnJia. "Guantanamo and Its Aftennath: U.S. Detention and 
Interrogation Practices and Their Impact on Former Detainee$,n International Human Rights Law 
Clinic, UniversityofCalifornia, November, 2008. This report details the Guantanamo detention 
facilities and mental health treatment of detainees. The report was based on a structured 
questionnaire with follow~up interviews with 112 individuals including 62 former detainees. 
The report states that detainees were medicated for the purpose of transporting them from the 
theater of operations. to Guantanamo. The report also states that interrogators at Guantanamo 
had access to detainee medical records. However, the report does not contain any allegations 
tbal mind-altering drugs were administered for the purpose ofinterrogations. 
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(U) Appendix 2. 

(U) Summary. 

(U) We investigated allegations made by- that he had been administered 
Lysergic Acid Diethylamide (LSD) or phencyclidine (PCP) while being interrogated. 
Based on our findings, we dc::tennined that- was not administered a mind· 
altering drug to facilitate interrogation. However, we concluded that the incorporation of 
a routine flu shot into an interrogation session with - was a deliberate ruse by 
the interrogation team, intended to convince~n administered a mind­
altering drug. 

(U) Background . 

. (U) - · a native born U. S. citizen, was arrested on May 8, 2002, and detained 
as a material witness. On June 9, 2002, - was designated by Pn:sident Bush as an 
enemy combatant and transferred to DoD custody with confinement at the U. S. 1\aval 
Consolidated Brig, Charleston, South Carolina. On October 4, 2006, the Federal 
Defender repn:senting- filed a Motion to Dismiss for Outrageou.f Government 
Conduct, based, in part, on the allegation that- had been given drugs against his 
will, believed to be some fonn of LSD or PCP, to act as a sort of truth serum during his 
interrogations. Later, on December 13, 2006, the Federal Defender. filed an order of 
competency for- to stand trial. - also made reference to drugs or "truth 
serum" to both the psychiatrist and psychologist who conducted mental health 
assessments in 2006 at the request of Defense Counsel. 

"t@11n accordance with Chairman Joint Chiefs of Staff Execute Order dated June I 0, 
2002, U.S. Joint Forces Command was directed to accept control and the 
U.S. Naval Consolidated Brig, Charleston, SC was directed to 
be detennined. Pursuant to the same Execute Order, was assigned 
responsibility for the interrogation o~. By this Execute Order, U.S. Joint Forces 
Command was ultimately responsible for ensuring that- was treated humanely in 
accordance with the President's Policy memorandum dated February 7, 2002. Based on 
these authorities, U.S. Joint Forces Command and Commander, U.S. Atlantic Fleet, 
exercised legal review authority for all actions which had the potential to im:pact on the 
personal welfare o~. Neither U.S. Joint Forces Command nor Commander, U.S. 
Atlantic Fleet. was responsible for the conduct of interrogation operations. 

(U)- was interrogated during the period June through October 2002 by personnel 
from the Federal Bureau of Investigation and Jdint Task Force 170, the predecessor 
organization of JTF GTMO. Beginning in October, 2002, the- interrogations were 
conducted by the DIA and after March 20037 he was interrogated jointly by the DIA and 
Federal Bureau of Investigation. · 
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(U) Results. 

{U) During the mental competency hearing for-, a senior official of the U.S. Naval 
Consolidated Brig testified in response to a question concerning- being injected 
with LSD that the incident involved a "flu shot." Based on this statement we focused the 
investigation on events related to the administration of influenza vaccine. We conducted 
an on-site examination of daily logs maintained by the security force at the brig and 
confirmed that-received an influenza immunization on December 5, 2002. We 
interviewed the Navy corpsman who de8Qribed the process for preparing the vaccine and 
administering the immunization. The Navy corpsman stated that-did not 
complain of any pos.t immunization reactions that might bave been related to LSD or any 
other psychoactive drugs. However, the Navy corpsman stated that one of the 
interrogators instructed him not to infonn-of the nature of the immunization. We 
interViewed two security personnel who were present during the administration of the flu 
shot. Neither could recollect for certain who, if anyone, infonned- be was 
receiving a flu shot. 

(U/Jf8H8) We co.nducted an analysis of situation reports issued after each interrogation 
by the DIA supervising interrogator and compared their content with recordings of the 
interrogations beginning in October 2002 through December 5, 2002, the date of the 
immunization. We also obtained sworn statements from the two interrogators who were 
responsible for conducting the interrogation. 

(li;';~lf~ The interrogation videos show that beginning on October 16, 2002, and again on 
November 14, 2002, and December 4, 2002,- expressed concern about the possible 
use of drugs to induce him to cooperate with the interrogators. The most detailed 
discussion of truth serum occurred on November 14, 2002, after- declined to take a 
polygraph examination. The interrogation video recording depicts that following the 
polygraph declination,- and the interrogator had a discussion of other techniques 
which could be used to verify-statements. Among the techniques described by 
the interrogator was the use of a "truth serum." However, at the end of the discussion the 
interrogator clearly stated to- that, "There is no such thing as a 'truth serum' ... 

(Sh'tJf) During the interrogation of December 5) 2002, which immediately followed the 
influenza immunization, the interrogation recording shows that- asked why they 
gave him a shot. The interrogator said that "it was necessary" and proceeded to ask 
-whatkindofshothe received.- said he was told that it was a .. flu shot." 
Later during the interrogation- commented that he did not feel well artd asked, 
"what did you shoot me with? Did you shoot me with serum?" 
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(U//F8W8~ We concluded from the interrogation recordings and interviews with the 
intettogator and brig personnel present on DecemberS, 2002, that-was not 
administered a mind-altering drug during his confinement at the U.S. Naval Consolidated 
Brig, Charleston, South Carolina. We further concluded that the. failed to follow 
legal review procedures established by U.S. Joint Forces Command to ensure that. 
- welfare was protected in accordance with guidance issued by the President. 

(U) Client Comments, and Our Response . . 
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